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‘SUCH COSTLY FURNITURE, SUCH BEDS OF STATE’*:
REFLECTIONS ON THE CONSERVATION AND RE-DISPLAY 

OF QUEEN CHARLOTTE’S STATE BED

This Summer and Autumn visitors to Hampton Court will have the opportunity to see
Queen Charlotte’s magnificent bed, from the Royal Collection, for the first time in years as
major conservation work reaches completion (figure 1). This work has a complex and
chequered history of its own: what began in the 1950s as good, but old fashioned,
restoration work transformed into conservation, only to be interrupted by the devastating
fire of 1986. One of the benefits of this drawn-out process is the new information it has
produced about the bed’s enigmatic past.

The bed comes near the end of the line of great four-poster state beds in England. It is a
relic of a bygone age of elaborate court etiquette and was probably never slept in. Within
years of its creation the Royal Household had been drastically reformed and even the very
proper George III and Queen Charlotte had little practical use for such empty show. As
well as being a significant expression of the queen’s individual patronage and taste, its
design is in the very latest neo-classical style.

Unlike many eighteenth-century royal objects the precise origins of the bed are obscured
among the records of the queen’s private purse (the choice of funds is significant as it
betrays the Queen’s close personal interest). Its early history has been pieced together from
circumstantial evidence. The bed was finished in 1778 and soon placed in the Queen’s State
Bedchamber in Charles II’s Star Building on the north side of Windsor Castle. At this point
in their reign the king and queen were looking to accommodate their ever-increasing family
and contemplated improving the old castle. However, when advised of the prohibitive

* This title comes from an anonymous mid-eighteenth century poem on Harewood House
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costs, they enlarged what became known as the Queen’s or Upper Lodge outside the Castle
walls. The state rooms inside the Castle were still maintained. The king appropriated
Queen Anne’s old state bed for his State Bedchamber (Hugh Roberts, ‘A Neo-classical
Episode at Windsor’, Furniture History, 1997, pp. 177–187). In 1772, the Queen commis-
sioned an up-to-the-minute state bed to take its place. Eschewing traditional velvet or
damask upholstery, she turned to Mrs. Phoebe Wright’s School for Embroidering Females
to produce beautifully conceived floral needlework. And so began a collaboration that was
as much an act of social as artistic patronage. Until her death in 1818, the queen supported
six young girls at Mrs Wright’s charity school for the large sum of £500 a year. Letters
unearthed by Mary Phillips (Connoisseur Year Book, 1961, p. 93 and Olwen Headley, Queen
Charlotte, 1975, p. 130) reveal that the queen took a close interest in the creation of her
embroideries which took five years to complete. She learnt the names of the girls who were
‘orphan daughters of clergymen’, obliged to find a respectable living. The floral swags and
posies on the bed and its accompanying seat furniture,  all varieties grown in England, are
a clear expression of Queen Charlotte’s love of botany, as well as her own interest in
women’s work, which she encouraged in her daughters and friends. They are drawn and
laid out with great sophistication, the flowing lines of the garlands softening the severe,
classical lines of the carved bed stock. It has been suggested that the flower painter Mary
Moser R.A. designed the bed hangings, as she worked for Phoebe Wright’s niece and
successor Nancy Pawsey in 1778. Moser later painted a room for the Queen at Frogmore
House. But credit might equally go to Phoebe Wright, for she was also a noted textile
designer in her own right (N. Rothstein, Woven Textile Design in Britain to 1750, pp. 15, 128).
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Figure 1 Queen Charlotte’s state bed now back on display at Hampton Court.
Conservation of the curtains will be completed this year.

The Royal Collection
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The queen’s own part in its design should also be considered. Her own children were
tutored by leading artists, including Moser herself.

Surprisingly the designer of the highly architectural bed stock itself is unrecorded. The
overall form of the bed follows a particular strand of state beds going back to Queen Anne’s
bed at Windsor (1714) and occasionally even earlier. These all share rectilinear form and
classical architectural mouldings, relying on the richness of their textiles for effect rather
than the passementier’s art. What stands out on this particular bed are its richly carved and
gilded Corinthian foot posts and prominent cornice, with its honeysuckle-ornamented
acroteria. The latter completely hide the elliptical tester dome, whose sumptuous
embroidery and gilt wood interior may only be enjoyed by the bed’s occupant (figure 2).
This appears to be a very early and sophisticated use of such features on a state bed.
Indeed, in his round up of royal beds Peter Thornton perceptively suggested that this was
all replaced in the 1830s (Connoisseur, June, 1977, p. 142). With the benefit of recent detailed
examination during conservation we now know that the whole bed stock is contemporary
with the embroidery (although the ornament was replaced with composition during early
restoration). Thornton was right to highlight the modernity of this feature, for it may even
pre-date that tour-de-force of neo-classical bed design, Robert Adam’s state bed for Osterley
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Figure 2 The inside of the tester dome, showing original textiles and
gilding. The Royal Collection
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Park in 1776. For all its brilliant design, the Osterley bed still sports a great exterior dome.
Such domes had their heyday on beds in the 1750s and 60s.

A contender as the overall designer for Queen Charlotte’s bed is John Yenn. Yenn, an
assistant to Sir William Chambers, was first mentioned by Hugh Roberts in connection with
his designs for neo-classical interiors at Windsor (H. Roberts, ‘A Neoclassical Episode at
Windsor’, Furniture History, 1997, pp. 177–187). He also linked Yenn with the Soho cabinet-
maker Robert Campbell, who was the maker of the throne and canopy in the King’s
Audience Chamber at Windsor. Campbell probably also supplied the carved framework of
Queen Charlotte’s bed together with two en-suite chairs and ten stools (George III and Queen
Charlotte, Patronage and Court Taste, ed. J. Roberts, 2004, pp. 276–7).

However, now we know that the bed’s design is all of a piece could it perhaps be a little
too advanced for a man described by Sir William Chambers as ‘an ingenious faithful
intelligent servant’? Among Yenn’s drawings at the Royal Academy of Arts is a superb
presentation cross-section of a large town house, dated 1774, which includes a domed bed
(RA drawings collection, Yenn, B15). Although this does share ornamental details with
Queen Charlotte’s bed, it has a conventional large exterior dome. As more of Yenn’s
drawings for furniture are examined the less capable he seems to be of devising the
advanced design of the queen’s bed. As John Harris pointed out in his exhibition of Yenn’s
drawings, Yenn could be mischievous and could even be described as a ‘mannerist’ on
paper, yet he rarely achieved such originality in stone — nor in wood (J. Harris, John Yenn
Draughtsman Extraordinary, Heinz Gallery leaflet, 1973). It is possible that Chambers could
be the eminence grise behind the queen’s project, guiding his former pupil’s pencil. After all
he had produced many highly original designs for the royal family over the years. This
suggestion might help explain why the only bed design previously attributed to Chambers,
made for the 4th Duke of Marlborough, has failed to convince (H. Roberts, ‘Nicely fitted
up’, Furniture History, 1994, pp. 120–3). Intriguingly that bed, which was made by Mayhew
and Ince, is very similar to the domed bed in Yenn’s Academy drawing. 

More of the bed’s later history has now been revealed. During its first quarter century at
Windsor part of the embroidery was apparently removed and applied to new silk
hangings: according to early guidebooks, the original green and cream ground on the
exterior was replaced with Garter blue, although no trace of this was found during
conservation. By the early 1800s James Wyatt had begun remodelling the state rooms and
the bed disappeared from view. Newly discovered craftsmen’s signatures and the dates
1819 and ‘20 on the bed’s cornice and inside the valances confirm that the bed was restored
by royal cabinet-makers France and Banting. Although not traced in the royal accounts, the
work was perhaps commissioned by the Prince Regent in anticipation of his accession. The
bed reappears in guidebooks in the newly-enlarged Queen’s Bedchamber by 1827.
Following that room’s incorporation into the new Royal Library in the 1830s, the bed was
moved to Hampton Court. There it took pride of place in the King’s Bedchamber, ousting
William III’s ancient bed. Analysis has now confirmed that, some time after 1861, the
precious embroideries were cut out yet again and reapplied to synthetically dyed purple
silk. This silk too has mostly decayed, but it can still be seen on the upper valances of the
bed. Only the inside of the tester and its valances retain their original cream satin. The two-
colour, water-gilded ornament in yellow and green gold, attributed to Robert Campbell,
also survives. The whole effect is ravishing, like some royal bibelot. 

The lengthy conservation of this superb and fascinating bed is reaching completion and
it may now be admired once again together with its en-suite furniture and the paintings
which reflect the former Queen’s State Bedchamber at Windsor. The bed can be seen by
special tour on Wednesday afternoons during the summer and autumn or by appointment
(for Hampton Court opening times and contact details visit hrp.org.uk or call 0203 166 6311).
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Thanks must go to Sir Hugh Roberts, Director of the Royal Collection, for his original
work on royal and neo-classical furniture, Morgan Feely at the Royal Academy drawings
collection, Annabel Westman, Aasha Tyrrell of Carvers and Gilders and the Conservation
and Collection Care section at Historic Royal Palaces for their inspiration and discoveries. 

Sebastian Edwards
Historic Royal Palaces

GEORGE AITCHISON’S FURNITURE FOR LEIGHTON HOUSE

On 31 October 2008, Leighton House Museum closes to facilitate 12 months of refurbish-
ment and redecoration funded by the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea. The
building will be entirely rewired, the outdated heating system renewed and security and
fire detection systems replaced. The disruption caused will also present the opportunity to
revisit the decoration and presentation of the interiors and to consider again how they were
furnished.

The tragedy of Leighton House remains the sale of Leighton’s fascinating and extensive
collections of fine and decorative art following his death in January 1896. His two sisters,
Augusta and Alexandra who inherited his entire estate, initially attempted to sell the house
and contents intact as a permanent memorial to their brother. When no buyer was forth-
coming and attempts to auction the house alone also failed, the sisters consigned virtually
the entire contents to Christie, Manson & Woods with the sale taking place at King Street,
London over 8 days from 8 July 1896. The sale made more than the sisters had originally
asked for house and contents together, confirming the scale of the bargain that had been
missed. 

Recent research has established just how far the house was conceived around the display
of particular works of art. Without its contents, the building no longer quite ‘makes sense’
in the way it once did. Occasionally items from Leighton’s collection do resurface. In 2006,
a late fifteenth-century terracotta relief by the Florentine sculptor Rossellino was acquired
at Sotheby’s and hangs once more in the Silk Room on the first floor. However, perhaps the
greatest loss remains the pieces of furniture specifically designed for the house by its
architect, George Aitchison (1825–1910). 

Leighton and Aitchison met as young men in Rome in the early 1850s. Having completed
his formal training in Frankfurt, Leighton was working on the paintings with which he
would launch his career. Aitchison, the son of an architect was touring Italy and would
leave Rome to travel with fellow architect William Burges. Leighton remained in contact
with Aitchison and when he came to build his house on the edge of Holland Park in 1864
engaged his ‘old friend’ as architect. Aitchison remained the only architect to work on the
house through its many extensions and embellishments completed over the next thirty
years. Leighton was clearly closely involved in all stages of the design and construction of
the house and in several contemporary accounts, the furniture is attributed jointly to
Aitchison and Leighton. Although we cannot be certain, it appears that all the furniture
was designed and made as an integral part of the original conception of the house in 1864.

The exact number and type of the furniture they produced together is uncertain.
Edgcumbe Staley in his biography of Leighton published ten years after his death,
described how ‘the suites of tables, cabinets, bookcases etc., which Aitchison had designed
were worked out in common wood, stained black, with arabesques in white holly, var-
nished over until they produced the effect of ebony inlaid with ivory’. However, the 1896
sale catalogue positively identifies only a single bookcase as being designed by Aitchison.
Contemporary descriptions and articles on the interiors nevertheless confirm that two
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further bookcases and the dining room
sideboard were also to his design, making a
total of at least four items in all. Not every
part of the house was photographed in
Leighton’s day and the Christie’s catalogue
is not entirely reliable and so it is possible
that further Aitchison-designed furniture
was located within these ‘blind spots’
around the house.

The four Aitchison pieces were sold as
the final lots on the first day’s sale on Wed-
nesday July 8, 1896. Lot 137 was described
as ‘An Upright Ebonised Book-Case, inlaid
with scrolls in ivory after a design by
Aitchison, 6 ft long’. The buyer is given as
Aitchison himself at a price of £13.2.6. The
following item, lot 138 was ‘A Massive
Book-Case, with glass doors above, and
doors enclosing drawers below, inlaid with
ivory with bosses of lapis lazuli — 6 ft long’
(figure 3). Together with its companion,
sold as lot 139, these were bought by
‘Murray’ at a cost of £24.3.0 each. 

The three bookcases were all located at
the east end of the studio on the first floor of
the house. The two glazed bookcases sat in
shallow niches on either side of the large
studio screen. These were the most hand-
some of the pieces designed for the house,
with inlaid decoration that repeated the
motifs incised into the door architraves
throughout the interiors and elaborate
curvilinear scrollwork reminiscent of Aitch-
ison’s designs for the mosaic floors in the
staircase hall completed around 1881. The
single bookcase sat close by against the
north wall, to the right of the great north
window. 

Lot 140, the last of the group was des-
cribed as ‘A Massive Ebonised Sideboard
with folding doors at the side and three
drawers, shelves above, inlaid with scrolls,
&c in ivory and light wood, with bosses in
lapis lazuli — 8 ft. 6 in. long, 8ft. 2 in. high
and was purchased by ‘Morse’ for £19.8.6.
This was evidently designed for the dining
room and was positioned between the two
doors on the south side of the room. The
interior was described by Mrs Haweis in
her book Beautiful Houses of 1886:
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Figure 3 One of the glazed bookcases in the studio
standing behind one of Leighton’s canvases

Figure 4 The massive studio sideboard illustrated in
La Construction Moderne, March 1896
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‘The colouring is warm, somewhat dark, consisting of a deep red wall, oak mantelpiece and chairs
(the last covered with brown leather), and a big ebonized sideboard, designed by Mr Aitchison.
The blackness of this latter is broken by a crowd of china on its shelves, blue Nankeen and old
English and by a pretty little silver coffee service of Turkish work.’ 

Although sold in 1896, a photograph of the dining room dated 1902 when the house had
already become a museum in Leighton’s honour, shows the sideboard still in position, its
new owner perhaps daunted by the challenge of moving it. There is no indication of when
it did finally leave the house.

The location of all these items remains a mystery. We would like to believe that some or
all of them still survive, their owners simply unaware of the connection to Leighton House
and that eventually they will be reunited with the interiors. Tantalisingly one piece did
very nearly return. The museum archives contain a letter from the Council’s Chief Lib-
rarian, then responsible for Leighton House, dated October 1938 to a Mr R. G. Fox in which
the offer of a single large bookcase ‘designed for Lord Leighton’ is declined on the grounds
that ‘there is no available space and incidentally no practical use it could be put to.’
Presumably the unglazed piece bought by Aitchison at the sale. No such concerns would
apply were it ever to be offered to the museum again!

Daniel Robbins
Leighton House 

FUTURE SOCIETY EVENTS

Bookings

For places on all visits, please apply to the Activities Secretary, Clarissa Ward, 25 Wardo
Avenue, London, SW6 6RA, tel. /fax 020 7384 4458, enclosing a separate cheque and
separate stamped addressed envelope for each event using the enclosed booking form.
Applications should only be made by members or family members, and by those who
intend to take part in the whole programme. No one can apply for more than one place
unless they hold a joint membership, and each applicant should be identified by name. If
you wish to be placed on the waiting list please enclose a telephone number where you can
be reached. Please note that a closing date for applications for all visits is printed in the
Newsletter. Applications made after the closing date will be accepted only if space is still
available.

Cancellations

Please note that no refunds will be given for cancellations for occasional visits costing
£10.00 or less. In all other cases, cancellations will be accepted and fees returned up to seven
days before the date of a visit, but will be subject to a £5.00 deduction for administrative
costs. Separate arrangements are made for study weekends and foreign tours and terms are
clearly stated on the printed details in each case.

N.B. PLEASE REMEMBER TO SEND SUFFICIENT STAMPED, SELF-ADDRESSED
ENVELOPES FOR ALL APPLICATIONS, INCLUDING REQUESTS FOR DETAILS OF
FOREIGN TOURS AND STUDY WEEKENDS.

Annual Lecture

The London Furniture Industry 1640–1720

The Society of Antiquaries of London, Burlington House, Piccadilly, London W1
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Wednesday 15 October 2008, 6.00 pm for 6.30–8.00 pm

The 2008 Annual Lecture will be given by Laurie Lindey, who is currently working on her
PhD at the University of London. In recent years, she has worked as research assistant to
Dr David Mitchell, the Goldsmiths Company, Dr Tessa Murdoch, Dr Adam Bowett, 
Dr Amin Jaffer and Eleanor John, and has written articles for the Society’s newsletters on
specific aspects of the London furniture trade at this period.

The doors will open at 6.00 pm when wine and soft drinks will be available. The lecture
will begin at 6.30 pm. 

Admission is free but attendance is by ticket only, which must be acquired in advance from
the Activities Secretary. Numbers are limited to 90.

Annual General Meeting and Special Talk by Philip Claris
The National Trust Collections Management Project,
followed by an afternoon visit to The Reform Club

The East India Club, 16 St James’s Square, London SW1

Saturday 29 November 2008, 10.30 am–3.30 pm

The Annual General Meeting for the financial year ending 30 June 2008 will be held at the
East India Club, 16 St James’s Square, London SW1. The AGM will start at 10.30 am (coffee
from 10.00 am) followed by Works in Progress talks by Christopher Rowell, the National
Trust, Treve Rosoman, English Heritage, Sarah Medlam, Department of Furniture Textiles
& Fashion, Victoria & Albert Museum and a curator from Temple Newsam House, Leeds.

After a light lunch, there will be a tour of the Reform Club at 100 Pall Mall. This Italian
Renaissance style masterpiece of Sir Charles Barry was inspired by Palazzo Farnese and
was completed in 1841. The interiors, which remain as original, are richly flamboyant in
decoration and most of the furniture was made by Holland and Son to the designs of Barry. 

Admission to the AGM is free but all members wishing to attend should notify the
Activities Secretary at least 7 days in advance. Tickets for lunch and the afternoon visit are
available at a cost of £25 per head and likewise must be booked with the Activities
Secretary at least 7 days in advance.

OCCASIONAL VISITS

Kew Palace and the Economic Botany Collection, Kew Gardens

Thursday 25 September 2008, 10.30 am–3.45 pm

This visit combines two very different themes: a morning visit to the recently restored Kew
Palace which will be led by Sebastian Edwards, Curator for Historic Royal Palaces and an
afternoon tour of Kew’s Economic Botany Collection in the company of the ethnobotanist,
Dr Mark Nesbitt, with additional input from Dr Adam Bowett. The Collection houses some
50,000 artefacts and timber specimens collected from the 1840s onwards. It includes historic
timber samples sent from around the world to the Great Exhibition of 1851 and subsequent
exhibitions. There will also be time for members to enjoy the gardens and experience the
new treetop walkway.

Fee: £20 (lunch not included) Limit: 20 members

Closing date for applications 1 September 2008
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Apethorpe Hall,  Oundle, Northamptonshire and Milton, Peterborough,
Cambridgeshire

Thursday 9 October 2008, 11.00 am–4.00 pm

Apethorpe Hall is a Grade I listed country house dating from the late fifteenth century. It
was the principal seat of the Mildmays and Fanes, Earls of Westmorland, for over 350 years
and was favoured with at least thirteen royal visits by Elizabeth I and the early Stuart
monarchs between 1566 and 1636. Its state apartment suite was rebuilt in 1622–4 to receive
James I, and still has one of the finest sets of Jacobean interiors of the period, with
decorative plaster ceilings, fireplaces and paneling. The house was abandoned to neglect
and decay from 1982. Following compulsory purchase action, English Heritage took over
the site in 2004 and has undertaken a £4m programme of rescue works. To accompany the
repair works, a major programme of historical and archaeological research has been under-
taken, in which Simon Swynfen Jervis, FHS Chairman, has been involved. The property is
now being marketed with a view to finding a purchaser who will restore the Hall for use
as a country house. Our visit will be led by Kathryn Morrison of English Heritage and
Simon Swynfen Jervis.

After lunch, the group will make their own way to Milton, the family home of Sir Philip
Naylor-Leyland. Behind the Elizabethan façade, the ground floor shows the interior
decoration of Henry Flitcroft and the first floor is the work of William Chambers (1771–74).
The house contains a magnificent collection of furniture; some of which is original to the
house and the Fitzwilliam family; some came from Wentworth, another family seat; and the
balance are fruits of on-going collecting.

Fee: £30 Limit: 20 members

Closing date for applications 8 September 2008

Drumlanrig and Dumfries House,  East Lothian

Sunday 2 and Monday 3 November 2008

The Society is highly privileged to have the opportunity of study sessions at these two
renowned houses with exceptional collections of furniture. On Sunday at 1.30 pm a coach
will collect the group from Prestwick airport and we will continue for an afternoon visit to
Drumlanrig, by kind permission of the Duke of Buccleuch and Queensberry, KBE. Dinner
and accommodation for Sunday evening have been organised at the 4 star Western House
Hotel, Ayr. Monday morning and early afternoon will be spent at Dumfries House study-
ing the unique collection of furniture, supplied by Chippendale and others, and which was
saved from dispersal last summer. Our study sessions at Dumfries House will be led by 
Dr David Jones, Hon Curator of the Great Steward’s Dumfries House Trust with contribu-
tions from Rufus Bird, Christies, and Lucy Wood, Victoria & Albert Museum. The coach
will return the group to Prestwick Airport at 4.30 pm.

Limit: 30 members

Fee: £200 for single room accommodation or £155 for sharing twin/double room
accommodation (this includes dinner and accommodation on Sunday night, lunch on
Monday and coach transport as described above)

Closing date for applications 15 September 2008
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Study Day Uppark,  South Harting,  Petersfield,  Hampshire

Friday 7 November 2008, 11.00 am–4 pm

Uppark, built in 1690 in a spectacular position high on the South Downs, was bought in
1747 by Sir Matthew Fetherstonhaugh. With his wife Sarah’s assistance, most of the interior
was redecorated and furnished with their exceptional collection of pictures, tapestries,
furniture and ceramics, much of which had been acquired on their Grand Tour. Their son,
Sir Harry, employed Humphry Repton during the early nineteenth century to make
alterations to the State Rooms, the front entrance and the garden. Sir Harry is most famous
for ‘discovering’ Emma Hamilton in a house of ill repute in London. He also advised
George IV, when Prince of Wales, on French Furniture. He acquired both for the Prince and
himself important French furniture made or supplied by Lignereux (as well as porcelain
and gilt-bronzes) in Paris in 1802. A disastrous fire in 1989, when the majority of the
contents were miraculously saved, led to a major restoration project by the National Trust
and 10 years after its reopening, this study day will reassess the findings made during
restoration and subsequent further research. 

We are delighted that Christopher Rowell, who was the Historic Buildings Representa-
tive at the time of the fire and now Curator of Furniture of the National Trust, will lead this
study day, with the assistance of Sophie Chessum, Regional Curator, and John Hardy.

Fee: £35 (to include lunch) Limit: 30 members

Closing date for applications 15 September 2008

Private Visit to Carvers and Gilders Workshop,  Battersea, 
London SW11

Wednesday 12 November 2008, 2.00–4.00 pm

Due to illness the visit in February 2008 was sadly cancelled, but the FHS have kindly been
reinvited to see the work of this expert team of craftsmen specialising in fine woodcarving
and gilding. Established in 1979, their clients include museums, national collections, public
organisations, private and trade; and long term projects have been carried out at many of
the greatest country houses and royal palaces. The group will learn about the analysis and
research work that is undertaken and see examples of English and European furniture,
mainly late seventeenth century to mid-nineteenth century, currently being conserved and
restored. With extensive knowledge of wood carving and associated surface decoration
including cut and raised gesso techniques and water/oil gilding and painting finishes, this
is a privileged private visit to a celebrated and highly specialised workshop. 

Fee: £15 Limit 10 people

Preference will be giving to those members whose applications were accepted for the
February visit

Closing date for applications 15 September 2008

Vistit to Taking Shape:  Finding Sculpture in the Decorative
Arts.  Special exhibition at the Henry Moore Institute, Leeds

Tuesday 18 November 2008, 12.00–4.00 pm

This exhibition, co-organised by the Henry Moore Institute and the J. Paul Getty Museum
in California will focus on the inventive imagination of baroque and rococo in the
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seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Displayed in a contemporary gallery space, it will
highlight relationships between these styles and consider furniture and decorative art as
sculptural modes of expression. The exhibition will include loans from the Getty including
one of the Carlin torcheres made for William III of Holland, Cressent firedogs, a Meissonier
wall clock, the Schor side table and Madame de Pompadour’s vernis martin sugar casters,
as well as a group of familiar but re-assessed objects from Temple Newsam, including the
Hagley torcheres the Brinkburn Priory pier table and items from the Pascall suite. The visit
will be led by Martina Droth, curator of the Henry Moore Institute, with James Lomax,
Temple Newsam House.

Fee: £18 (to include basic lunch) Limit: 30 members

Closing date for applications 1 October 2008

FOREIGN TOURS

Visit to New York and the Pietra Dura exhibition at the
Metropolitan Museum of Art

Sunday 14 to Wednesday 17 September 2008

This tour is now fully subscribed. For details of any cancellations please contact the FHS
Activities Secretary.

Study Tour of Denmark,  Friday 3 to Tuesday 7 April 2009

Kate Dyson, FHS member, has very kindly organised this study tour with the assistance of
Chamberlain Baron Henrik Wedell-Wedellsborg and our visits will be led by Mogens
Bencard, former curator of the Danish Royal Collections. 

The itinerary will include the royal collections at Fredensborg, Amalienborg and the
newly restored Rosenborg Castle as well as many private castles including Aastrup,
Ledreborg, Egeskov, Glorup, Halsted and Holsteinborg, with exceptional interiors and col-
lections of furniture. We will be extremely privileged to have access to the private apart-
ments of many of these castles and indeed to several collections which are never open to
the public. We will be based for two nights in Copenhagen, one night in Funen and one
night in Zealand.

Our studies will concentrate on the renaissance and rococo styles and later neo-classical
revivals, and there will be the opportunity to consider in great detail the work of Danish
cabinet makers, the influence of styles emanating from elsewhere in Europe and highly
important pieces of furniture made by foreign craftsmen and purchased by the Danish
royal and noble families.
Full details and booking form are now available from the FHS Activities Secretary. Closing
date for applications will be 15 December 2008.

Applications for funding of this tour are invited by the Oliver Ford Trust and the Tom
Ingram Memorial Fund. Please contact Adriana Turpin, email turpinadriana@hotmail.com
for further details of grants.
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OTHER ITEMS

FURNITURE HISTORY for Sale

A member has generously donated to the Society a run of Furniture History from Vol XIX
(1983) to XLIII (2007) for sale in aid of Society funds. Members interested in acquiring these
should make an offer to Brian Austen, 1, Mercedes Cottages, St. John’s Road, Haywards
Heath, West Sussex RH16 4EH, tel/fax 01444 413845, email: brian.austen@zen.co.uk. No
reserve applies and the highest bidder will be the purchaser. Collection will need to be
arranged by the purchaser from central London or they can be posted at the purchaser’s
expense. Bids will be accepted up to and including 30 September 2008, when the successful
purchaser will be informed. If an email address is provided, bidders will be kept informed
of the current price as the sale progresses.

Summer Opening of Buckingham Palace

This year sees the 16th Summer Opening of Buckingham Palace, when the magnificent State
Rooms open to the public.  For the first time ever and for this year only, visitors will be able
to experience the spectacle of the Palace’s Ballroom set up for a State Banquet.  The
horseshoe-shaped table traditionally used on such occasions will be dressed with a
dazzling display of silver-gilt from the Grand Service, first used to celebrate the birthday of
George III in 1811, and adorned with beautiful flower arrangements. Lavish buffets of
tureens, dishes and fine English and Continental porcelain will flank the table. The Summer
Opening of the State Rooms at Buckingham Palace is from 29 July to 29 September 2008.
Open daily 09:45–18:00 (last admission 15:45). Admission by timed tickets. Advance tickets:
www.royalcollection.org.uk or (+44) (0)20 7766 7300.

BOOK REVIEWS

Suggestions for future reviews and publishers’ review copies should be sent to Dr Reinier
Baarsen, Reviews Editor, Rijksmuseum, PO Box 74888, 1070 DN Amsterdam, The Nether-
lands. Tel. 00-31-20-6747220. e-mail: r.baarsen@rijksmuseum.nl

Jörg Meiner, Möbel des Spätbiedermeier und Historismus, Die Regierungszeiten der preußischen
Könige Friedrich Wilhelm IV. (1840–1861) und Wilhelm I. (1861–1888) (Berlin: Stiftung
Preußische Schlösser und Gärten Berlin-Brandenburg, 2007) 533 pp., 329 col., 188 b/w
illus. ISBN 978-3-05-004353-1, 128.

This publication is the third in a new series of catalogues of the decorative arts in the
collections of the Stiftung Preußische Schlösser und Gärten Berlin-Brandenburg. The first,
published in 2000, describes the embroideries, and the second (2001) the chandeliers; the
present volume is the first of a projected five dealing with the important holdings of
furniture originally in the possession of the Prussian royal family. Mainly dating from the
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, these are nowadays exhibited in altogether 27 castles
and palaces.

The 266 catalogue entries are organized in twelve chapters, arranged according to the
individual residences from which the furniture originates. A general introduction provides
a survey of the state and private apartments in the Prussian palaces, and their furnishings
during the post-classicist decades with which the catalogue is concerned. Subsequently,
each chapter is preceded by an essay on the building history of the castle or palace in
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question, as well as the use of its apartments and interiors. Together, these introductions
underpin the twofold purpose of the catalogue as stated in the preface. Its aim is not just to
describe the furniture collection, but also to link it with the furnishing history of the
apartments and rooms that originally held the various items. Based on a thorough study of
the royal archives and inventories, the history of each building and the decoration and
function of the individual rooms are elucidated. Floor plans of apartments are illustrated,
as well as historic and present-day views of interiors. The papers documenting the commis-
sioning of the furniture have yielded many designs for specific pieces; these are also illus-
trated. 

The curator of the furniture collection, Afra Schick, contributes an essay on the
‘separation of style and ornament’ thought to be characteristic of historicism. She bases her
observations on the furnishing of the royal apartments in Schloss Orangerie in Potsdam
installed in 1858–59 and largely preserved intact. Ornamental elements were culled from
various styles — in the case of the Orangerie, baroque, rococo and classicism; the selected
elements were abstracted, simplified and combined in a piece of furniture with no
consideration for the original proportions or the structure of which they formed a part.
Consequently, whereas historicism is normally regarded as a period of stylistic pluralism,
it would be more apt to speak of ornamental pluralism. It may be questioned if this release
of the ornament from the form to which it is applied, and the consequent freedom of the
ornamental decoration, does not already hold true of late eighteenth-century classicism
which might therefore be considered the first ‘neo-style’.

Brief contributions on restoration by Ulrike Eichner and Marc Heincke clarify two inno-
vative techniques of the 1840s. The library in Schloss Charlottenburg, executed in sycamore
by the Berlin court workshop of Joseph Schneevogel in 1845–46, was given a cool trans-
parency by applying a bleached shellac, and Marc Heincke illustrates the standard way to
imitate Boulle marquetry through the example of two cabinets, probably made in Germany
in the 1840s: ruby red shellac was applied to an irregularly painted ground, and etching
took the place of engraving on brass.

The catalogue deals with all types of furniture but does not describe fixed elements such
as panelling, built-in looking glasses and side-tables – in view of the emphasis put on the
relationship between furniture and interiors, this is surprising. Every entry lists not only
the maker, date, materials, marks, history of the use of the piece and its present location,
but often also mentions recent restoration or conservation treatments. Nearly all the
furniture is illustrated in colour. It is briefly described and then discussed in a lengthy com-
mentary which usually contains much information on the maker, the acquisition and the
employment of the piece. Because Prussian royal furniture is so well documented, there are
sundry surprises. Many fully historicist pieces, such as neo-rococo ones, are shown to have
been made remarkably early, i.e. in the early 1840s. Often highly unorthodox in their
design, a large number of items stand out because of the extraordinary quality of execution.
An appendix lists a selection of furniture workshops and suppliers to the Prussian royal
family, and an extremely useful illustrated list of inventory marks will undoubtedly lead to
the identification of items lost during the War. Unfortunately, the quality of the illustra-
tions is not very good throughout. Most pieces have been newly photographed, but the
pictures are quite small and not very sharp, rendering it impossible to study the furniture
in detail. 

This catalogue, packed with new information, seems a wonderful herald of the volumes
to come. In particular, it is hoped that the one describing the furniture from the time of
Frederick the Great, so splendid and so little published, will appear soon.

Achim Stiegel
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Shelley Bennett and Carolyn Sargentson (eds.), French art of the eighteenth century at The
Huntington (San Marino: The Huntington Library, Art Collections, and Botanical
Gardens, New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 2008) 496 pp., 250 col., 200 b.
& w. illus. ISBN 978-0-300135-947, $125.

As set out in Shelley Bennett’s introduction to this catalogue, the celebrated collection of
French eighteenth-century art at the Huntington Library, Art Collections, and Botanical
Gardens in San Marino, California, is mainly constituted from three groups: works bought
by Henry and Arabella Huntington for the mansion, built from 1907, which now houses the
museum; the large and important Arabella D. Huntington Memorial Collection assembled
by Duveen, Huntington’s foremost supplier, in just two months in 1926–27, upon the death
of Arabella; and the 1978 bequest of Judge and Mrs. Green, mainly remarkable for its
paintings. The massive catalogue, which for the first time describes and illustrates every
piece in the collection, is a delight to peruse. It includes Sèvres porcelain, gold boxes, paint-
ings, sculpture and textiles; the present review is concerned only with the furniture and the
gilt bronzes and clocks.

The furniture hastily put together by Duveen as a memorial collection for Arabella,
intended by Huntington to be part of the museum he was planning to establish, is of the
most luxurious and lavish description and includes marquetry, Sèvres- and lacquer-
mounted pieces that can vie with those in the Frick Collection or the Samuel H. Kress
Collection at the Metropolitan Museum, both also essentially formed by Duveen. This kind
of furniture has been much studied and we know a fair amount about it, but this has not
deterred the author of the catalogue entries, Florian Knothe, courageously to come up with
bold suggestions and enterprising new ideas. They are primarily based on close inspection
of the physical condition of each piece which, however, is not described systematically or
consistently. Every entry is augmented by fairly summary technical notes by John Childs,
a conservator. There is no strict division between these notes and the commentaries:
although the former concentrate on the construction and state of preservation, they
occasionally contain suggestions about the original appearance of a piece based on
extraneous evidence; on the other hand, the commentaries deal at length with changes
made to the furniture and also describe elements of its appearance. Few details are illus-
trated and there are no diagrams or other drawings, which often renders it extremely
difficult to follow the authors’ reasoning. Furthermore, the technical notes and comment-
aries occasionally contradict one another. The reader is thus left with many unanswered
questions. If, as seems likely, the desk attributed to Boulle, cat. no. 1, has been largely
remounted and partly reveneered, why are these changes dated to the middle of the
eighteenth century? The replacement mounts are in a fairly pure Louis XIV style which one
would not expect to find at that period. And if the flat mounts surrounding the drawers of
the desk attributed — without argumentation — to Doirat, cat. no. 2, are thought to be later.
Why then is its cartonnier, whose foremost shared feature consists in precisely these
mounts, accepted as original to it? Why is the desk, cat. no. 3, described as largely
reveneered in the commentary, when the technical notes do not bear this out? Similar
fundamental questions are raised by a large proportion of the entries.

The last-mentioned desk is attributed to Charles Cressent, but the reader is not told why.
It may be reasoned that Alexandre Pradère’s recent monograph on the ébéniste presents the
latest thinking on this matter, but his arguments should still be summarized, particularly
as the entries have no individual bibliography. References to previous literature must be
distilled from the footnotes; extraordinarily, Robert Wark’s summary but extremely useful
1961 catalogue of the collection (revised edition 1979) gets hardly any mention at all. 
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The compiler is refreshingly candid about the condition of the furniture which in many
cases underwent considerable alterations. Occasionally, he seems to get carried away by a
kind of iconoclasm. For example, although the differences in quality to be observed on the
mounts of Martin Carlin’s exquisite marquetry secretaire and commode, cat. no. 25, may
suggest that some were replaced at a later time, the proposition that these pieces were not
originally conceived as a set but considerably altered in the nineteenth century in order to
appear so now, fails to take into account the highly distinctive character of their shape and
decorative features. It seems unlikely that the secretaire was originally mounted with two
enormous Sèvres plaques — no example with porcelain in this precise configuration is
known, and the subtle differences between the marquetry designs on the commode and the
secretaire only go to highlight Carlin’s sensitivity. The recent emergence of a nineteenth-
century commode assembled from the two corner cupboards which must originally have
formed part of the same ensemble and which display further variations, strengthens this
point, but the author could not have known this when compiling the text (Christie’s
London, 6 December 2007, Lot 168).

As the catalogue concentrates on the present physical state of the furniture, there is
relatively little speculation as to first owners or early provenance; in the rare cases that
there is, this is not always carefully presented. For instance, the Sèvres-mounted table
reputedly sold by the Saxon Royal family in the 1920s, no. 26, was said by Wark to be a
present from the Dauphine, Marie-Josèphe de Saxe, to her father, the Elector of Saxony. She
died, however, in 1767, whereas the table cannot be earlier than 1781 because of its Sèvres
marks. In the present catalogue its history is further embroidered upon: the table is again
stated to be a present from the Dauphine to her father, but he is now incorrectly identified
as Albert, Duke of Saxe-Teschen, who was in fact her brother. The picture is muddled even
more because in the same entry Albert himself is said to have bought the table from
Daguerre in 1781, and it is propounded that it may have been his first purchase of French
furniture. None of this information is supported by any reference. Albert married the
Archduchess Marie-Christine and they were jointly appointed Governors of the Austrian
Netherlands in 1780. The celebrated, often-published series of drawings of porcelain-
mounted furniture and other objects given by Rafael Esmerian to the Metropolitan
Museum is with good reason linked to this couple, and to add to the confusion the cata-
logue entry proposes a connection with these drawings.

When writing a critical review it is regrettably difficult to avoid devoting much space to
a book’s flaws. It must be stressed that the catalogue makes the Huntington furniture
marvellously accessible, and there is a serious attempt to assess every piece in detail.
Maybe the compiler has tried to achieve too much at a single go, in entries to whose length
there must have been restrictions. This feeling is somewhat accentuated by the fact that the
introduction to the furniture section, by Carolyn Sargentson, does not address aspects of
the collection but constitutes an analysis of the writing furniture depicted on the famous
snuff-box with interior views by Van Blarenberghe of the Paris town house of the Duc de
Choiseul. This interesting essay is thought-provoking about the use of furniture,
addressing issues of social history and gender, but its position within the catalogue is ill-
defined. Whenever a link is proposed with items in the collection, there is a feeling of
constraint — as with the hypothesis that porcelain-mounted bureaux were mainly made for
women, an assumption that is refuted by nearly every historical example quoted in either
the introduction or the catalogue entries.

By contrast, the introduction and the entries on the gilt bronzes and clocks are all written
by Martin Chapman. In his essay he concentrates on the importance of gilt bronze
ornaments within decorative schemes, both in the eighteenth century and at the beginning
of the twentieth, when wealthy American collectors such as the Huntingtons were
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assembling interiors in the French eighteenth-century style. The entries are once more
accompanied by technical notes, by Linda Strauss, and again these are not particularly
consistent. Nonetheless, both these notes and the commentaries frequently discuss quality
in design and execution: useful comparisons are made within the collection itself. This
results in a valuable contribution to a field of expertise that is notoriously challenging. It is
only to be regretted that the illustrations are quite small, so that the remarks on chasing and
finishing cannot easily be checked. One of the results of this admirable catalogue will surely
be that many visitors will come to the Huntington to look for themselves.

Reinier Baarsen

REPORTS ON THE SOCIETIES ACTIVITIES

VERSAILLES,  28 January 2008
Private Tour of the Exhibition ‘Quand Versailles était meublé d’argent’
Among the great artistic losses inflicted by a disastrous foreign policy, the melting down of
the two hundred or so pieces of solid silver furniture, Louis XIV’s Grande Argenterie, must
rank very high. These pieces, which decorated the King’s State Rooms and the Hall of the
Mirrors at Versailles, stood there for only seven years from 1682 to 1689. Not one ounce
from the original twenty tons has survived, therefore no reconstruction was ever possible
and one of the aims of this exhibition was to create a splendid evocation of the appearance
of the State Apartments during the three evenings a week, from November to Easter, when
the Sun King entertained his courtiers. To fulfill this aim, the Palace, for the first time,
decided to use the suite of the Louis XIV’s seven state rooms rather than the gallery where
its exhibitions are usually held. 

The two hundred pieces which were on display, were all of royal or aristocratic origin.
Foremost among the lenders was HM the Queen of Denmark who loaned seventy pieces —
a third of the total on show – from Rosenborg Castle. Staff from Rosenborg collaborated
with Versailles and lent their expertise. Other masterpieces on display came from the
collections at Windsor Castle, Marienburg Castle, the Hohenzollern Castle, the Dresden
Green Vaults, Prince Esterhazy’s Forchtenstein Castle, the Kremlin and others. The curators
sought to assemble to the full range of silverware types used to decorate state rooms. The
result, among many other things, represented an extraordinary testimonial to the immense
artistic skills of the Augsburg manufacturers, although, as opposed to the solid silver
furniture of Louis XIV, Augsburg furniture was not cast but consisted of chased plaque of
silver assembled on a wooden frame.

Our group enjoyed the privilege of being guided by Catherine Arminjon, general curator
of French Heritage and a member of the committee of curators who organised the
exhibition. Each of the salons, which formed the King’s Great Apartment, was filled with
pieces which reflected the original function of the room. The team of curators had taken the
bold decision to ask the interior designer Jacques Garcia, well known for his passion for
Baroque interiors, to recreate the ambience of Louis XIV’s Apartment evenings. Drawings,
designs, paintings and the famous tapestry of the king’s visit to the Gobelins provided the
documentary evidence alongside this evocation of what had once been. 

It is only possible to give a most cursory account of the extraordinary wealth of material
which was displayed. In the first of the rooms, the Salon d’Abondance, the rarest and oldest
pieces were displayed, among them a unique set of furniture adorned with silver filigree
work. Next, in the Salon de Venus, where refreshments used to be served, Jacques Garcia
recreated the traditional silverware buffets on which coolers, ewers, flagons and bowls
from Dresden Castle’s Green vaults were laid out, while a long table was set with Augustus
the Strong’s silver-gilt dinner service. In the Salon de Diane, which was the billiard room,
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some of the extravagant diplomatic gifts given to the Tsar by European rulers were shown.
In the Salon de Mars, the ballroom during those royal entertainments and, at the time, the
best lit of all the salons, the entire range of lighting used at that time was represented. The
magnificent mirrors of the Prince of Hanover, just right for the scale of the room,
wonderfully evoked the interplay between light and reflection during these evenings. In
the state bedchamber, the Salon de Mercure, we found English exhibits: a Marot designed
table and mirror from Windsor and an imposing chandelier and perfume burner from
Chatsworth. In the Salon d’Apollon, the 2.60 meter high silver throne of Louis XIV had
been replaced by the 1731 Danish silver throne of Christian VI, accompanied by one of
three lions commissioned by Frederick III. The tour ended in the Hall of the Mirrors where
Jacques Garcia, following documentary evidence, reproduced the dramatic arrangement in
which, in 1686, on the occasion of the reception of the ambassadors of the King of Siam, the
king’s silver throne had been placed at the far end of the Hall on a dais raised on nine steps
surrounded by huge pieces of silverware. This full-scale model enabled us to realise how
perfectly the original arrangement must have worked within the monumental scale of the
Hall. FHS members are deeply grateful to Catherine Arminjon who so generously gave her
time and kindly shared her expertise and insider’s knowledge with us.

Anne Ceresole

The Private Apartments

In the afternoon, Bertrand Rondot kindly showed us the King’s private apartments, hidden
behind the State Apartments. He explained that these rooms had been used in different
ways by each monarch, but they retained their more private and family feel. Amongst the
many treasures we saw was an astronomical clock by Passemant, installed in 1754, with
bronzes by Caffieri, showing the time, the day, the month and year, as well as the planets.
Also, the bureau du roi, Louis XVI’s extraordinary mechanical cylinder desk by Oeben,
commissioned in 1760 and finished and delivered by Riesener, with bronzes, some
imitating Sèvres vases by Duplessis. We heard how the royal ciphers were removed during
the revolution and replaced with Sèvres panels in the Wedgwood style. 

We crowded in the Bathroom, with its aquatic motif carvings by Rousseau, which was
altered in 1777 into a cabinet for the privy purse. The bureau plat by Riesener, made for
Versailles, and later delivered to Madame Sophie, had happy memories for one FHS
member. William Lorimer explained that in 1983 he was shown a photo of the piece, then
located in an English country house. After extensive research, using police technology and
scanning, the true identity of the table was confirmed and after auction, the table was
returned to Versailles.

Another recent return is the large commode by Riesener in the Library. This piece had
been made originally for the Kings Cabinet at Fontainbleau, but moved to Versailles in
1785. Belonging to the Rothschild family, it had been sold at auction, and subsequently
returned to Versailles. 

Another piece with topical reference was a small cabinet by Bennerman which had been
delivered by Daguerre in 1789. The drawer panels are wax, inlaid with feathers and
butterflies by Etlanger, a Swiss working at Sèvres. Comparisons were made with Damien
Hurst who is currently working with flies attached by resin to sheets of metal. 

Sara Heaton

A Postscript to ‘Quand Versailles était meublé d’argent’

Actually seeing the vast tapestry showing Louis XIV visiting the Gobelins, instead of
looking at it in a photograph (Quand Versailles était meublé d’argent, Paris 2007, p. 64) reveals
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the small head of a child enmeshed in a pile of rugs, mainly middle-eastern. It seems totally
out of place until you remember that the original cartoon, for the tapestry, designed to
show the skill of Louis’ craftsmen, featured a large cuvette where the carpets are now (Ibid.
p. 44). We may never know why imported rugs, instead of merely spilling out from it,
replaced a Gobelins cuvette. Such cuvettes were made by Claude Villiers as Le Brun himself
mentioned (F. Buckland, ‘Gobelins tapestries and paintings as a source of information
about the silver furniture of Louis XIV’, in Burlington Magazine, Vol. cxxv May 1983, p. 272).
Could it be that Le Brun thought that the Villiers, father and son, were already given
enough prominence and so changed the design? They are shown standing next to Monsieur
(D.Meyer, L’histoire du Roi, Paris 1980, pp. 110–11) holding up a large silver gilt vase. The
cuvette in the cartoon has tritons surrounding it, and another cuvette, in a fan depicting a
room in the Trianon de Porcelaine, is similarly designed, but with cherubs instead of
tritons. Is the lonely face the only remaining vestige of the cuvette originally intended to be
there?

Pamela Cowen

Thomas Hope, Regency Designer, V&A Museum, 15 and 16 April, 2008

FHS members were treated to an in-depth tour of the Thomas Hope, Regency Designer
exhibition by its principal curator, Philip Hewat-Jabor. The exhibition has been furnished,
as far as possible, with objects that belonged to Thomas Hope, in a work of considerable
investigative research. Hewat-Jabor explained that the collections from the two now-lost
Hope houses — The Deepdene, Box Hill and Duchess Street, London — have been
completely dispersed and items formerly belonging to Hope could only be identified
through the use of sale catalogues and shipping documents from Amsterdam. Hewat-Jabor
described how he had discovered antiquities belonging to Hope in places as such as the
Lisbon Museum’s stores.

Hope’s role as a pioneer of taste, an amateur of Greek sculpture and a talented draughts-
man and designer is apparent from the outset of the exhibition, in the display of exquisite
drawings by Hope lent by the Benaki Museum, Athens, which document his Grand Tour
travels in the Ottoman Empire. Informed by his passion for classical antiquities — a
selection of which are on display, (he also bought a number of Greek vases from Sir William
Hamilton’s famous collection) — Hope proceeded to use motifs and design furniture and
room settings which reference the collection, publishing his important Household Furniture
and Interior Decoration in 1807. The work, which was a monograph on his Duchess Street
mansion and its contents was a well illustrated advertisement for his ideas, influenced by
the work of his French architect friends Charles Percier’s and Pierre-François Fontaine. 

Sections of the exhibition evoke the pioneering Regency interiors that Hope created from
1802 in his Duchess Street house, with their colourful friezes and rich fabrics. The Egyptian
section recreates aspects of Hope’s Egyptian Room, including the gold and ebonised settee
and pair of armchairs that he designed for Duchess Street (kindly lent by the Trustees of the
Faringdon Collection at Buscot Park). Illustrated in Hope’s Household Furniture (plate VIII),
the suite is made of bronzed and gilded beech, with Egyptian motifs borrowed from
various monuments in Rome, Bologna, and Thebes. Despite these applied Egyptianising
decorative elements, the overall form of the settee and armchairs is unmistakably European
in origin.

Little is known about Hope’s furniture makers, although he clearly designed pieces
himself and the exhibition contains some exquisite individual items of furniture,
presumably to Hope’s designs. One of the craftsmen known to have worked for Hope was
Peter Bogaert, who probably executed the carvings on the small mahogany cabinet, c. 1802,
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based on the form of a Roman cinerarium or columbarium, which Hope called a ‘recess’.
Another of the more attractive, but modest pieces of furniture is a mahogany footstool with
swan-carved ends, close to the illustration in Household Furniture (plate XL). In contrast, the
gilded beech and limewood settee carved with ram’s heads and honeysuckle ornament
with pedimented back and scrolling panel sides demonstrated the ornateness of the
magnificent interiors. 

Susan Jenkins

Chatsworth House,  18 April 2008

The Duke of Devonshire welcomed FHS members in the Lower Library. Matthew Hirst,
Head of Arts & Historic Collections, led the visit, assisted by Hannah Obee, Curator of
Decorative Arts, and accompanied by Annabel Westman and Lisa White. We were here to
learn about the new presentation of the State Apartment. This was the first stage in a big
re-think of the visitors’ route. Next comes refurnishing the South and West Sketch
Galleries, forming a new gallery on the north side of the courtyard and returning the Oak
Stairs to its Wyatville scheme. Chatsworth is a vibrant house. 

Matthew described how the Duke and Duchess wished to recapture the original flavour
of the Baroque State Rooms. They completed the work last year and received a well-
deserved plaudit from Jeremy Musson, in Country Life for 22 March 2007. Three articles in
Apollo magazine were also published in June 2008.

The Kent furniture from Chiswick has left the Great Chamber which is now shown
empty apart from a knock-out display of the 1st Duke’s silver gilt on the west wall and
arranged as a perennial buffet. 

The State Drawing Room is hung with 1630s Mortlake tapestries (the Acts of the
Apostles) and arrayed with coromandel panel chests, oriental vases and, eclipsing all,
thrones with footstools, made for the coronation of King George III & Queen Charlotte at
Westminster Abbey in 1761. Hannah quoted the 1764 inventory of the room that described
the tapestries and thrones. The latter were perquisites of the 4th Duke as Lord Chamber-
lain. Sir Hugh Roberts examined the pair in ‘Royal Thrones 1760–1840’ (Furniture History,
Vol. XXV, 1989 pp. 61–85). The giltwood frames, in an armorial-rococo idiom, were carved
by the royal chair-maker, Katherine Naish, and upholstered by the royal upholsterers and
cabinet-makers, Vile and Cobb. Thomas Hincliff supplied the bizarre brocaded silk.
Originally each throne had an additional cushion because, as Lucy Wood said, when a
footstool is deployed, a separate seat cushion is essential to avert a royal ‘knees-up’.

Two coromandel chests-on-stands were made from panelling removed from the State
Closet in 1700. Gerrit Jensen, cabinetmaker to William and Mary and the 1st Duke, had
supplied this lacquer cladding for Chatsworth in 1691. The 1740s mahogany parcel-gilt
armchairs come from Londesborough Hall, the Yorkshire home of the 3rd Lord Burlington. 

Looking at previous guidebooks, you see that the State Music Room once contained the
King George III thrones, mahogany and satinwood two-manual harpsichord by Shudi and
Broadwood (1782) and attention-grabbing Russian malachite-top table, gift of Tsar
Nicholas I to the 6th Duke. Today there is a most impressive convergence of Boulle
furniture, outside the Royal Collection or the Wallace. The crimson and black theme is
taken up by a gathering of porphyry urns and bronze statuettes. This marshalling imparts
opulence worthy of Louis XIV whose bust stands on the low armoire stamped ‘Dubois’
(probably René Dubois who used his father’s stamp and therefore late eighteenth-century
Boulle-revival). The 6th Duke introduced the French gilded leather wall hangings and put
in the north door. 
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Matthew took us through the Boulle, differentiating what is considered early eighteenth
century and what’s revival. Flanking the chimney-piece are two tall vase-shaped pedestals,
c. 1700, after Berain, acquired by the 2nd Duke. In the corner nearby is an early 18th century
bureau Mazarin attributed to A-J Oppenordt (d. 1715) comparable with those in the
Buccleuch and Wallace collections. Four Boulle pedestals line the north wall similar to the
two pairs at Stratfield Saye and at Uppark, and the single pair at Wrotham Park. These are
close to a Boulle engraving (Plate 1, Nouveaux Deisseins). Matthew pointed out the gilt-
bronze fringes around the blue-ground aprons that hang for the friezes, which are not as
lively as earlier mounts of this type by Boulle, indicating that these pedestals probably date
from later in the eighteenth century. So too do the swagger pair of medal cabinets on this
wall, but these mounts look earlier than 1760. On the window wall opposite is a pair of
Boulle coffer-stands with term front legs. These were acquired by the 6th Duke, and
modified. These are seen in an 1890s photograph of Devonshire House. The pair of
porphyry urns on either side of the north door and the remainder were all adapted as
candelabra, in the Egyptian taste, for the 5th Duke.

The State Bedchamber is artificially lit, the windows hung with new red and yellow
damask curtains designed by Annabel Westman. Annabel herself explained that, of all the
Chatsworth State Rooms, only this one and its Closet were originally curtained. When she
considered the damask design she was led to the bed itself. Her findings were published in
the Chatsworth issue of Apollo, this June. Here a summary is attempted.

The 1st Duke ordered a bed for the room from Francis Lapiere in 1697. The 6th Duke
removed it and hung the tester as a canopy in the Long Gallery at Hardwick. In the
Chatsworth State Bedchamber he placed the canopy of state from the High Great Chamber
at Hardwick which he had restored by Crace. It was originally thought to have belonged to
Mary, Queen of Scots (in fact the arms are 17th century and belonged to the 2nd Earl and
Christian Bruce, his wife). So matters rested until, early in 20th century, Duchess Evelyn,
wife of the 9th Duke, returned the canopy to Hardwick and made it into a bed. In its place
at Chatsworth, she set up the present four poster. This is where King George V and Queen
Mary slept when they visited the house in 1913 and 1933.

By tradition it was the bed in which King George II died. Annabel set out to trace it in the
Chatsworth archives and Royal accounts, at first without success. Then the penny dropped,
today the damask is red and yellow but it has degraded, originally it had a more uniformly
crimson appearance. Percy Macquoid described it in 1905 as ‘rose-damask’. Red damask
beds were the norm for status, so how to differentiate it and was it made in 1690s, as
Macquoid asserted? Annabel found an entry in the Great Wardrobe accounts for a crimson
damask bed made for King George I at Kensington Palace with ‘a set of vases and feet’
supplied in 1723. Later documentary references to the bed tie in with the death of King
George II at Kensington and the dispatch of the bed to Devonshire House in 1761, as
another perquisite of the 4th Duke. The bed-frame was made by Richard Roberts and
upholstered by Thomas Phill. (Robert’s father had supplied the bed and seat furniture for
King James II now in the Venetian Ambassador’s Room at Knole).The Chatsworth bed
looks old-fashioned for its date. Lucy Wood compared it with those at Belton and Dyrham
that share similar quirks in construction but are twenty years earlier.

Annabel’s research had identified that the bed has been modified. The front posts are
nineteenth century. Annabel could demonstrate that the bed had lost height and so in 2006
it was raised 18 inches to better align the valances and raise the curtains from the floor. The
triumph of the bed is made absolute because the room has been re-thought around it. The
stamped leather walls are now clad with Brussels tapestry, itself over-hung, with sconces
and pictures, à la Hardwick. 
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Flanking the bed are two seaweed marquetry cabinets on stands recently moved from the
private apartments. They are attributed to Gerrit Jensen; the right-hand cabinet is complete
with a battery of inner drawers also faced with marquetry. Opposite is one of the pier
glasses supplied to 1st Duke and recorded in the Chatsworth accounts, ‘1703; Paid Mr
Gumley for 2 large Looking Glasses £200’. The second is now in the adjoining Closet. The
Bedchamber glass is inscribed ‘John Gumley 1703’. 

The State Closet has been represented so as to closer represent the inner sanctum it was
designed to be. The 1st Duke’s silver chandelier and looking glass remind us of past
grandeur. 

At present the South Sketch Gallery contains the tub-thumping thrones that were used at
the coronation of King William IV and Queen Adelaide in 1831 and were perks of the 6th
Duke, as Lord Chamberlain. These thrones were second-hand, refurbished by Bailey and
Saunders. (Sir Hugh Roberts relates their history in his 1989 article). 

As a bonus, we also visited several rooms on the west front. The Sabine Bedroom was the
1st Duke’s antechamber, the entrance to his private apartment. Murals and ceiling are by
Thornhill. The 6th Duke made this, and the adjoining rooms, into bedrooms equipping
them with swagger furniture and upholstery by Le Sage of Paris. The Chintz Bedroom is
resplendent with a vast four-poster with original green satin hangings, silver and black
braid and fringes. It has en-suite maplewood furniture all supplied to the 6th Duke by
James Orchard. Thus ended the first half of our day.

Dudley Dodd

In the far corner of the Shop is a door that permits those with privileges, access to a tower
wherein lies one of the rarest sights in any stately home, a surviving ‘private theatre’. The
room itself was designed by Sir Jeffry Wyatville as a banqueting room and ballroom for the
6th Duke and was first completed in 1832. The ceiling is decorated with late seventeenth-
century painted panels by Sir James Thornhill and Louis Cheron, painted for the walls of
the 1st Duke’s Long Gallery, but removed when that room was converted into a Library by
the 6th Duke. The two boxes at the back of the room, and the gallery above, are part of the
original furnishing of the room. One was used by Queen Victoria when she attended a ball
here in 1843. In 1896, the 8th Duke of Devonshire commissioned William Hemsley, a
leading London designer and supplier of ‘theatrical scenery and appliances’, to fit the room
out as a theatre, with a permanent stage, stage equipment, a painted proscenium and front
drop curtain, and a number of sets. Most of these remain, and are extremely rare survivors
of late nineteenth-century scenery. Between 1898 and 1907, the theatre was used regularly
during the winter visits of Edward VII and Queen Alexandra, when they were entertained
with performances of plays, dance and music specially laid on to entertain royal house
parties. From 1989 to 2005, the room was used for textile conservation. 

A foray even further up the Theatre tower and out into the Belvedere provided us with
a spectacular view of the Chatsworth roofline and surrounding park as well as usefully
illustrating how Wyatville’s architecture fitted onto a Baroque Chatsworth. The day ended
with yet another rare privilege when we were taken to see a newly created furniture store.
The Society has seen furniture beautifully laid out in a South African garage store, and
furniture stored in chaotic country house attics but here was a store as elegantly displayed
as the ducal banqueting hall. As with any store there is a mixture of good and indifferent
pieces. Among the more noteworthy items was a William Kent frame from Devonshire
House. An intriguing set of unusually tall gilt rams headed torcheres also from Devonshire
House encouraged animated discussion as to whether they were partly eighteenth- and
nineteenth-century or, judging from rather heavily carved and awkward finials even partly
Edwardian (even though they appear in pre-Edwardian photographs of 1880s). In addition
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to these rather grander pieces was a multitude of pole screens, fire screens, towel rails,
dressing mirrors and small tables. The second ‘what date debate’ took place over a sofa or
‘canape’ and whether it could really have been by François Hervé and 1780s, as the
accompanying chairs most certainly were — or, a bit of revival 1820s made to go with them.
Ivan Hall’s article ‘A neoclassical episode at Chatsworth’ in Burlington Magazine, June 1980
may provide a solution for those wishing to pursue the argument. 

This was a tremendous end to a most glorious day and our heartfelt thanks go to
Matthew Hirst and Hannah Obee who so gallantly guided us through this veritable
treasure house of Chatsworth and allowed us such free range access to all areas. Thank you
also to Lisa White and Annabel Westman for providing excellent back-up on the beds and
all things upholstered.

Leela Meinertas

Parham, West Sussex,  16 May 2008

The Society was welcomed to Parham House (built c. 1577) by Lady Emma Barnard, who,
with her family, occupies and maintains the house. She recounted the extraordinary phase
in Parham’s history since 1922 when the Hon. Clive and Mrs Alicia Pearson bought the
house from the 17th Baroness Zouche of Haryngworth, whose family (the Bysshopps) had
occupied it since 1601. With the architect Victor Heal, they restored the structure and
interiors, assembled substantial collections of paintings, textiles and furniture, and opened
the house to the public from 1948. Some original woodwork survives in the house, most
notably the richly carved oak hall screen, which can be compared with that dated 1581 at
Cuckfield Park in the same county, and around the walls of the same room, the built-in
bench seating whose structure consists essentially of a massive oak plank supported on oak
brackets. Like all the original woodwork, these were conserved during the Pearson era.

The morning was spent in the 160ft. long gallery at the top of the house (with original
floorboards and panelling, and a ceiling designed and painted by Oliver Messel in 1960).
Richard Pailthorpe, general manager at Parham, outlined the perseverance with which the
Pearsons had bought judiciously at auction from the many house sales of the period,
retaining the sale catalogues for use alongside copies at the house (in 53 volumes) of the
Bysshop Parham papers, and offering promising lines for future research.

Dr Adam Bowett, the visit leader, selected several pieces of early eighteenth-century
furniture for discussion, offering technical as well as stylistic evidence by which to evaluate
them: two large japanned bureau bookcases (one black, one red), the former is apparently
English, with drawer fronts veneered in pearwood, the material of choice, as its smoothness
allowed for painting directly onto the surface without a gesso ground; the latter, Adam
suggested, is a Dutch version of an English model, partly on account of the use of oak
throughout, whereas cheaper deals would normally have been used in England for the
structural parts. We considered several varied ‘Marotesque’ chairs with elaborately carved
high backs, of the type found in many British collections and usually catalogued as ‘Queen
Anne’. Daniel Marot’s own chair designs show upholstered backs, so it is clear that the
association with him should be treated with caution, but it was also suggested that such
chairs were probably Dutch products imported (and many of them were made) from the
1820s onwards to appeal to historical revival tastes. Features like the double, mid-stretcher,
the straight rear feet, and the numbering of the elements that make up the carved backs
appear to point to Dutch manufacture. 

There is a great variety of English and Continental furniture in the long gallery (too great
to list here), but some particularly interesting pieces seen by the group included a reclining
chair c. 1670, with apparently original upholstery and extending iron arm rods. This is

22

Newsletter 171  28/7/08  10:18 AM  Page 22



23

probably an example of the type listed in the Lord Chamberlain’s Great Wardrobe
accounts, supplied by Richard Price, as a ‘sleeping chair, to fall in the back with ironwork.’
An English couch (day-bed) of c. 1720–40, robustly made in solid walnut, retains its original
hessian base-cloth with cord lacing to facilitate tensioning, and whose excellent condition
suggested that imported American black or ‘Virginia’ walnut (as it was known) may have
been used. An unusual oval gateleg table, apparently late seventeenth century, has
graining on the frame, and the top is painted to look like scagliola when closed, lacquer
when open. Other pieces include a French, late sixteenth-century walnut armchair, and two
‘Nonsuch’ chests, both somewhat restored, as is almost always the case.

During the afternoon the group explored other rooms in the house, and admired in
passing some of the magnificent embroideries at Parham (published in a booklet by Judith
Doré), such as the flame- or Florentine-stitch hangings of c. 1620 on the ‘Jacobean’ bed from
Wroxton Abbey in the Great Chamber, and the English wall hangings of c. 1660–85 in the
Green Ante-room, worked in Hungarian point. A walnut double chest of drawers-cum-
bureau, probably c. 1740, with fretted bracket feet, prompted discussion on eighteenth-
century approaches to design in the West room. Adam suggested that the use of walnut for
both primary and secondary timbers, coupled with the assiduity with which the cornice on
this piece followed the classical orders may indicate a provincial origin, given that Batty
Langley provocatively claimed that sophisticated cabinet-makers (unlike joiners) under-
stood that a too-strict adherence to the architectural rules actually produced an
undesirable, top-heavy effect. 

Two pieces in substantially original condition were singled out for the group to examine,
both made with careful regard for materials, and modest rather than flashy. In the West
Room is an unusual triangular, oak, folding games table of c. 1715, stamped FF, the crafted
joinery visible but unobtrusive at the table-top scoops used for ombre. This was one of the
few pieces of furniture at Parham before 1922, along with a set of painted beechwood chairs
with cane backs and upholstered seats associated with the remodelling of the Saloon 
c. 1790. In the Great Parlour, with its remarkable heraldic, plaster ceiling installed in 1935,
we admired a cedar gate-leg table of c. 1680 with spiral-turned legs and two small drawers,
and noted the neat plugs on the table top which concealed riveted hinges, usually an
indication that the top is original, as removing them is difficult to do neatly.

This visit concentrated on furniture of the early eighteenth century. In the absence of
Victor Chinnery, who was unfortunately unable to attend as planned, it therefore spent less
time on the earlier, oak furniture, such as a large, varied group of carved pieces in the great
hall, and several chests of drawers (of the type with applied geometric mouldings, and
often with snakewood and mother of pearl inlay, which are dateable to 1650–80), spread
throughout the house, and which would undoubtedly repay further study. We are very
grateful to Lady Emma and Richard Pailthorpe for making us so welcome, and to 
Dr Bowett for sharing his knowledge so generously.

Nick Humphrey

The Oliver Ford Trust and Tom Ingram Memorial Fund

In line with one of its roles, the promotion of interest in interior design, the Oliver Ford
Trust has generously expressed the desire to sponsor a place on each FHS study weekend
or foreign tour. Applicants should either be a student with a particular interest in interiors,
or a junior museum professional. Applications from non-members will be considered.
Grants will be awarded via the Tom Ingram Fund, to which candidates should apply.

The Tom Ingram Memorial Fund makes grants towards travel and other incidental
expenses for the purpose of study or research into the history of furniture (a) whether or
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not the applicant is a member of the Society; (b) only when the study or research is likely
to be of importance in furthering the objectives of the Society; and (c) only when travel
could not be undertaken without a grant from the Society. Applications towards the cost of
FHS foreign and domestic trips and study weekends are particularly welcome from
scholars. Successful applicants are required to acknowledge the assistance of the Fund in
any resulting publications and must report back to the Panel on completion of the travel or
project. All applications should be addressed to Adriana Turpin, Secretary to the Fund at
39 Talbot Road, London W2 5JH, Turpinadriana@hotmail.com, who will also supply appli-
cation forms for the Oliver Ford Trust grants on request. Please remember to send an s.a.e.
with any request.

The committee requests that applications for study trips be made well in advance of the
final deadline for acceptance — preferably at least one month before.

Copy Deadline

The deadline for receiving material to be published in the next Newsletter is 15 September.
Copy should be sent, preferably by email, to laura.houliston@english-heritage.org.uk or
posted to Ms Laura Houliston, 44 Harrow View Road, London, W5 1LZ, tel. 0208 810 4718.
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